IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 19-1640

(Black Hawk County Case No. LACV130978)

KRISTINA LEWIS,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

HOWARD L. ALLEN INVESTMENTS, INC.; HOWARD L. ALLEN,

Defendants-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY HONORABLE GEORGE STIGLER JUDGE OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

By: <u>/s/ Eashaan Vajpeyi</u>

Eashaan Vajpeyi, #AT0011094

H. Daniel Holm, Jr. #AT0003607

3324 Kimball Avenue

P.O. Box 2696

Waterloo, IA 50704-2696

(319)234-2638

(319) 234-2237 fax

evajpeyi@ballkirkholm.com

bkh@ballkirkholm.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO DEFENDANT ALLEN INVESTMENTS AND DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Iowa Code § 562A.2. Iowa Code § 562A.6

a. The Uniform Residential Landlord Tenant Act at Iowa Code Ch. 562A is a remedial statute to be construed liberally and according to legislative intent and words

Hornby v. State, 559 N.W.2d 23, 25 (Iowa 1997) Iowa Code Ch. 562A. Uniform Residential Landlord and Tenant Act (1972).

b. <u>Under the unambiguous, statutorily defined terms of the URLTA</u>

<u>Defendant Allen Investments is a "landlord" obligated to provide</u>

<u>safe and habitable premises for its rental dwellings</u>

Hollingsworth v. Schminkey, 553 N.W.2d 591 (Iowa 1996)

Hornby v. State, 559 N.W.2d 23, 25 (Iowa 1997)

Junkin v. McClain, 265 N.W. 362, 365 (Iowa 1936)

Mulhern v. Catholic Health Initiatives,

799 N.W.2d 104 (Iowa 2011)

The Sherwin-Williams Co. v. Iowa Dep't of Revenue,

789 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 2010)

Iowa Code § 562A.6

Iowa Code § 562A.6(5)

Iowa Code § 562A.6(6)

Iowa Code § 562A.15(1)(a)(1)

Iowa Code § 562A.15(1)(a)(2)

Uniform Residential Landlord and Tenant Act, 1.301(7)(1972) MERRIAM-WEBSTER DICTIONARY, "Or", https://www.merriam-

webster.com/dictionary/or (last visited July 15, 2019).

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2) this appeal should be retained by the Supreme Court because it presents a substantial issue of first impression regarding the scope of Iowa Code Ch. 562A-Uniform Residential Landlord Tenant Act ("URLTA").

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This case involves a claim of personal injury arising out of a fire that occurred at a rental home located at 323 Archer Avenue, Waterloo, Black Hawk County, Iowa ("323 Archer Avenue"). (App. p. 31 ¶7). Plaintiff Kristina Lewis was in the home at the time of the fire and suffered severe personal injuries. (App. p. 32 ¶10). Plaintiff alleged theories of common law premises liability and statutory liability for failure to maintain safe and habitable premises under the Uniform Residential Landlord Tenant Act at Iowa Code Ch. 562A.

At the time of the fire there was an existing but unfulfilled real estate purchase contract pending between contract seller Defendant Howard L.

Allen Investments, Inc¹ ("Allen Investments") and contract buyers

5

¹ Throughout the summary judgment briefing and the order on appeal, Defendants Howard L. Allen Investments, Inc. and Howard L. Allen, individually have been referred to in tandem. At issue now is specifically Howard L. Allen Investment Inc.'s ownership of the rental property as Plaintiffs have never alleged Howard L. Allen held an individual interest, but instead sued him as part of another claim involving fraudulent corporate transfers subsequent to the fire. Howard L. Allen, individually, has been included in the briefing and prior order by virtue of his joint representation by counsel for Howard L. Allen

Defendants Javier Escobar Flores and Benito Rodrigues dela Rosa. (App. p. 33 ¶ 18). Defendant Allen Investments was the deed holder of 323 Archer Avenue at the time of the fire. (App. p. 33 ¶ 17). Plaintiff argues that Allen Investment's deed ownership of the property qualifies it as an "owner" and "landlord" under the URLTA and subjects it to the requirements to maintain safe and habitable premises for lawfully residing tenants, such as Plaintiff. Defendant Allen Investments argue it had no ownership interest in 323 Archer Avenue and thus owed no common law or statutory duty to the Plaintiff to maintain the rental home in a safe and habitable condition. (Def. Allen MSJ)

On November 3, 2016, Plaintiff filed a Petition at Law and Jury Demand. (App. p. 7). Plaintiff filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on August 21, 2018 seeking a determination that Allen Investments was statutorily liable as an "owner" and "landlord" under the URLTA and that it owed a common law duty to Plaintiff. (App. p. 55). Defendant Allen Investments filed a "counter" Motion for Summary Judgment on September 21, 2018. (App. p. 170) asking to be dismissed for lack of liability, either statutory or common law.

Investments, Inc. and that his personally liability only arises from any liability of Howard L. Allen Investments, Inc.

On May 6, 2016, the District Court verbally informed the parties it would be granting Defendants' motion and denying Plaintiff's motion. Plaintiff's counsel informed the court of their intention to appeal and the case was removed from the trial docket. (App. p. 149). On May 10, 2019 the court formally entered its Ruling denying Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and granting Defendants Howard L. Allen and Howard L. Allen Investments, Inc.'s Motion, thereby dismissing them as defendants. Plaintiff filed an Application for Interlocutory Appeal from the Ruling on motions for summary judgment on June 6, 2019. (App. p. 151). On July 24, 2019 the Iowa Supreme Court denied Plaintiff's application for interlocutory review without explanation. (App. p. 165). Thereafter, Plaintiff dismissed Defendants Javier Escobar Flores and Benito Rodrigues Dela Rosa without prejudice thereby making the summary judgment ruling as to the remaining Allen defendants final as to the entire case and worth of appeal. (App. p. 168).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about November 7, 2014, a fire started inside the dwelling located at 323 Archer Avenue. (App. p. 31 ¶ 7). Plaintiff Kristina Lewis and her fiancé, Stevie Thomas, were the lawfully residing tenants of 323 Archer Avenue, having previously entered into a written real estate lease with

Defendants Javier Escobar Flores and Benito Rodrigues dela Rosa as lessors. (App. p. 31 ¶6; Def. Flores & Dela Rosa Ans. and Crossclaim, Count 1 ¶ 6). At the time of the fire, Plaintiff Kristina Lewis and her two minor children, E.L. and A.L., were inside the dwelling. (App. p. 32 ¶ 8). Plaintiff Kristina Lewis was unable to escape the flames and smoke, and suffered severe personal injuries. (App. p. 32 ¶ 10).

At the time of the fire there was an existing but unfulfilled Real Estate Purchase Contract for 323 Archer Avenue pending between contract seller Defendant Allen Investments and contract buyers Defendants Javier Escobar Flores and Benito Rodrigues dela Rosa. (App. p. 33 ¶ 18; App. p. 25). Under the Real Estate Purchase Contract Defendant Allen Investments would execute and deliver the deed to 323 Archer Avenue at the completion of the contract. (App. p. 26). At the time of the fire, the contract with not completed and was unfulfilled and Defendant Allen Investments continued to hold the deed. (App. p. 12, depo. p. 17). Defendant Allen Investments was the deed holder of 323 Archer Avenue at the time of the fire. (App. p. 33 ¶ 17; App. p. 10., depo p. 12). Tax statements were mailed to a PO Box controlled by Defendant Allen Investments or its staff. (App. p. 10., depo p. 12). Following the fire, Defendant Allen Investments received the insurance proceeds for property damage to the home in excess of \$30,000. (App. p. 13., depo p. 22-23).

ERROR PRESERVATION

The District Court dismissed Defendants Howard L. Allen and Howard L. Allen Investments, Inc. as parties in its Ruling on Motions for Summary Judgment. (App. p. 144). Error was preserved by the timely filing of Notice of Appeal within 30 days of Plaintiff's dismissal of Defendants Javier Escobar Flores and Benito Rodrigues dela Rosa which is the date the case would have been finally adjudged as to all parties.

SCOPE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court reviews a district court grant of summary judgment for correction of errors at law. *Wallace v. Des Moines Indep. Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 754 N.W.2d 854, 857 (Iowa 2008). The facts relevant to whether or not Defendant Allen Investments is an "owner" or "landlord" under URLTA are largely undisputed. There is no question of fact as to who held the deed at the time of the fire or where the property tax statements were sent. Defendant Allen Investments does not deny the existence of the contract, its terms, or that it was unfulfilled at the time of the fire. The parties simply disagree over the legal effect of the contract and how it fits within the URLTA. Further, there is no dispute that Defendant Allen Investments did

not have present possession or the right to enter the property at the time of the fire, as the contract purchasers were the people leasing the property to Plaintiff. The issue on appeal is the "existence of a duty under a given set of facts [and] is a question of law for the court, [which] is property resolvable by summary judgment. *Overturff v. Raddatz Funeral Services, Inc.*, 757 N.W.2d 241, 245 (Iowa 2008); Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3).

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO DEFENDANT ALLEN INVESTMENTS AND DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

In its grant of Defendant Allen Investments's Motion for Summary Judgment the District Court failed to properly apply the unambiguous statutory definitions of "owner" and "landlord" of the URLTA. (Iowa Code § 562A.6). The District Court failed to follow the statutory instruction of Iowa Code Ch. 562A to liberally construe and apply its provisions to promote its underlying purposes and policies. Iowa Code §562A.2.

a. The Uniform Residential Landlord Tenant Act at Iowa Code Ch. 562A is a remedial statute to be construed liberally and according to legislative intent and words.

"A statute that regulates conduct for the public good or welfare is ordinarily remedial and liberally interpreted". *Hornby v. State*, 559 N.W.2d 23, 25

(Iowa 1997)(quoting First Iowa State Bank v. Iowa Dep't of Natural Resources, 502 N.W.2d 164, 166 (Iowa 1993). "[Courts] are guided by what the legislature actually said, rather than which it might or should have said." *Id.* "Ordinarily, where the legislature defines its own terms and meanings in a statute, the common law and dictionary definitions which may not coincide with the legislative definition must yield to the language of the legislature." *Id.*

These directives are exceptionally important in this case. The district court improperly imposed vague concepts of control of the property and knowledge of defects instead of liberally and properly applying the URLTA based on its clear statutory language to the undisputed facts

b. <u>Under the unambiguous</u>, statutorily defined terms of the <u>URLTA</u> <u>Defendant Allen Investments is a "landlord" obligated to provide safe and habitable premises for its rental dwellings.</u>

The Iowa URLTA at Iowa Code § 562A requires a "landlord" to "comply with the requirements of applicable building and housing codes materially affecting health and safety" and to "make all repairs and do whatever is necessary to put and keep the premises in a fit and habitable condition." Iowa Code § 562A.15(1)(a)(1)-(2). Who is a "landlord"? The question is answered directly and unambiguously by Iowa Code § 562A.6(5) which defines landlord as "the owner, lessor, or sublessor of the dwelling

unit" Who qualifies as an "owner" for purposes of being a landlord?

The question is, again, answered directly and unambiguously by Iowa Code

§ 562A.6(6), which states:

"Owner" means one or more persons, jointly or severally, in whom is vested:

- a. All of part of the legal title to property; or
- b. All or part of the beneficial ownership and a right to present use and enjoyment of the premises, and the term includes a mortgagee in possession.

On the date of the fire, Defendant Howard L. Allen Investments, Inc. was the deed holder and contract seller of 323 Archer Avenue. (App. p. 33 ¶ 17). As a contract seller Defendant Allen Investments retained "legal title of record . . . pending payment of the purchase price . . . such that title is conveyed to the buyer upon final payment. See Junkin v. McClain, 265 N.W. 362, 365 (Iowa 1936)(stating that an installment contract is where "legal title" of record is retained by the seller pending payment of the purchase price paid in two or more installments—such that title is conveyed to the buyer upon final payment.") By application of *Junkin*, Allen Investments retained legal title to 323 Archer on the date of the fire and at all times material hereto. Defendant Allen Investments also, in fact, held the deed at the time of the fire as admitted by Defendant Allen Investments in its deposition and Answer to Plaintiff's Petition. (App. p. 12, depo. p. 17; App. p. 40 ¶ 17).

Additionally, it was Defendant Allen Investments or Howard L. Allen, acting on its behalf, who did all of the following with regard to 323 Archer:

- 1. Received \$38,756 in insurance proceeds for damage to the premises at 323 Archer;
- 2. Decided to demolish the dwelling at 323 Archer;
- 3. Signed a deed of conveyance of the former 323 Archer parcel to another of his limited liability corporations following the fire.

The district court cited the case of *Hollingsworth v. Schminkey*, 553

N.W.2d 591 (Iowa 1996) as authority that individuals who had sold land on contract were no longer liable for the condition of the premises. (Order, p. 4). The court reasoned that since *Hollingsworth* controlled because it was decided well after passage of the URLTA. The court's reasoning entirely ignores that *Hollingsworth* did not involve a landlord-tenant relationship that would have subjected any party to obligations under URLTA. Outside of the landlord-tenant relationship *Hollingsworth* would control. However, Plaintiff's claims fall under the URLTA and are to be considered in light of those obligations and specific definitions included therein.

Defendant Allen Investments wishes to step away from the plain language of the statute because it is adverse to their position and argue, in essence, that the plain language of the statute is not what could have been intended by the law. This is a completely improper line of inquiry. To abide

by Iowa Code Ch. 562A the court must make a determination of the meaning of owner and landlord under Iowa Code Ch. 562A.

While it is role of the court to interpret statutes, the court is not without bounds in doing so;

[t]he purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine the legislature's intent. The first step in ascertaining the true intent of the legislature is to look at the statute's language. When the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, we will look no further. We determine the legislature's intent by the words the legislature chose, not by what it should or might have said. ... We may not extend, enlarge, or otherwise change the meaning of a statute under the guise of construction.

Mulhern v. Catholic Health Initiatives, 799 N.W.2d 104, 113 (Iowa 2011) (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The legislature's intent for which parties are to be considered owners and landlords under Iowa Code Ch. 562A can be determined by looking at the text of the statute. In interpreting these definitions, the court looks at the words chosen by the legislature. Here, the words chosen by the legislature are clear and unambiguous; there is no reason for the court to consider what the legislature should or might have said and no reason for the court to change the meaning in the name of statutory construction. Because there is no ambiguity in the definitions of owner and landlord under Iowa Code Ch. 562A, there is no need to look beyond the text of the statute to determine

Defendants Howard L. Allen and Howard L. Allen Investments, Inc. were owners and landlords of 323 Archer Avenue at the time of the fire.

It is within the legislature's prerogative to define terms in statutes as they so please. The court has recognized such stating: "we recognize the legislature 'may act as its own lexicographer.' When it does so, we are normally bound by the legislature's own definitions." The Sherwin-Williams Co. v. Iowa Dep't of Revenue, 789 N.W.2d 417, 424 (Iowa 2010). When the legislature has chosen to define certain terms contained in a statute and those terms are unambiguously defined the court has found they are obligated to apply the statutory definition. *Id.* at 425. The court has done so even when "the common law and the dictionary definitions...may not coincide with the legislative definition..." and found in such cases that the court "must yield to the language of the legislature." Id. "[Courts] are guided by what the legislature actually said, rather than which it might or should have said." Hornby v. State, 559 N.W.2d 23 at 25. "Ordinarily, where the legislature defines its own terms and meanings in a statute, the common law and dictionary definitions which may not coincide with the legislative definition must yield to the language of the legislature." *Id*.

This case presents a situation where the legislature has chosen to define particular terms in a statute. The legislature has defined "owner" to

include parties that are not typically included in the common law and dictionary definitions of owner. This was a choice by the legislature and the court must yield to the language chosen by the legislature.

The definition of owner in Iowa's Uniform Landlord and Tenant Act (i.e. Iowa Code Ch. 562A) is not unique. The Uniform Law Commission publishes a Uniform Residential Landlord and Tenant Act (URLTA) for states to adopt and modify as they wish. The first URLTA was published in 1972 and Iowa has adopted significant portions, including the definitions of owner and landlord. *See* Iowa Code Ch. 562A. In its adoption of portions of the 1972 URLTA the Iowa legislature did not change the definitions of "owner" and "landlord". Thus, both Acts include persons with legal title to property in the definition of owner, and both include owners in the definition of landlord. The definition of owner under both URLTA 1.301(7) and Iowa Code §562A.6(6) consist of two parts:

[O]ne or more persons, jointly or severally, in whom is vested:

- (i) all or part of the legal title to property, or
- (ii) all or part of the beneficial ownership and a right to present use and enjoyment of the premises.

The inclusion of a two-part definition for "owner" represents a choice by the Uniform Law Commission and the Iowa Legislature. The use of "or" is a choice to include as "owners" those who do not necessarily have physical control of a property but merely hold part of the legal title. This is a choice by the Uniform Law Commission and the Iowa Legislature to not limit liability for injuries occurring on a property to persons with physical control of the property. Thus, neither the 1972 URLTA nor Iowa Code Ch. 562A require a right of possession or control in order for a person to be considered an owner owing statutory duties to tenants.

Adoption of the 1972 URLTA was not mandatory, and Iowa did not adopt the Act in its entirety. If the Iowa legislature wanted to limit the definition of owner to a smaller category of persons than those included in the 1972 URLTA they could have done so. However, the Iowa legislature chose to adopt the same definition for owner as that provided in the 1972 URLTA and include holders of legal title to land as owners even if they do not have physical control.

This is a case of simple statutory interpretation. Iowa Code Ch. 562A uses clear and unambiguous language to define owner and landlord. In addition to this clear and ambiguous language, the legislature has specifically defined the terms as they are to be applied within Ch. 562A. The legislature clearly intended persons holding legal title to property to be considered owners and landlords for purposes of Iowa Code Ch. 562A. Defendant Allen Investments resists the idea that a person who lacks physical possession of property can be held responsible for accidents that

occur on that property. While this idea may seem unconventional, it is the idea codified in Iowa Code Ch. 562A.

The determination of which party is an owner of the property is based on *either* the holding of legal title *or* beneficial ownership with the right to present use and enjoyment. The only factor to consider in determining whether a party is an owner under Iowa Code 562A is whether they satisfy either prong of the statutory definition of owner.

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