IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA NO. 19-1640 Black Hawk County No. LACV130978

KRISTINA LEWIS,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

JAVIER ESCOBAR FLORES; BENITO RODRIGUES DELA ROSA; HOWARD L. ALLEN INVESTMENTS, INC.; HOWARD L. ALLEN

Defendants-Appellees

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY HONORABLE GEORGE STIGLER JUDGE OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

FINAL BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES HOWARD L. ALLEN INVESTMENTS, INC. AND HOWARD L. ALLEN AND REQUEST FOR **ORAL ARGUMENT**

> Henry J. Bevel III, #AT0000782 SWISHER & COHRT, P.L.C.

> 528 W. 4th Street, P.O. Box 1200

Waterloo, IA 50704-1200

Telephone:

(319) 232-6555

Facsimile:

(319) 232-4835

E-mail:

bevel@s-c-law.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO DEFENDANTS ALLEN INVESTMENTS AND HOWARD L. ALLEN AS THESE DEFENDANTS OWED NO DUTY TO THE PLAINTIFF.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal involves the question of whether a contract seller of real estate owes a duty to a tenant of the contract buyer of the subject real estate, a single family home, where the contract seller does not have possession or control of the subject real estate and has never had a contractual relationship with the tenant.

This appeal should be transferred to the Iowa Court of Appeals because it presents issues involving the application of existing legal principles and the issues presented are appropriate for summary disposition. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a) and (b).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case: The Plaintiff's claims in this case are based in negligence and arise from a fire that occurred at a single-family home located at 323 Archer Avenue, Waterloo, Iowa. The Plaintiff contends that Defendant/Appellee Howard L. Allen Investments, Inc., (hereinafter "Allen Investments"), as the contract seller and deed holder of the subject property, was negligent in its care, custody, maintenance, and control of the premises. The particulars of negligence asserted against Defendant/Appellee relate to an alleged failure to provide smoke/fire detectors and fire extinguishment devices at the property.

Allen Investments has never denied that it was the contract seller and deed holder of the subject property; however, Defendant/Appelle Howard L. Allen has denied having an ownership interest in the property. Howard L. Allen was the president of Allen Investments and he signed the contract for the sale of the subject real estate to Defendants Javier Escobar Flores and Benito Rodrigues dela Rosa in his capacity as the president of the company.

B. Relevant Events of Trial Court Proceedings: On November 3, 2016, the Plaintiffs filed a Petition at Law and Jury Demand claiming Defendants Allen Investments and Howard L. Allen breached common law duties and statutory duties under the Uniform Residential Landlord Tenant Act. On November 21, 2016, Defendants Allen Investment and Howard L. Allen filed their Answer denying the

Plaintiffs' negligence claims. The Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on August 21, 2018 requesting the trial court to find that Defendant Allen Investments owed a duty to the Plaintiffs to maintain the premises in a fit and habitable condition under Iowa Code §562A.15(1)(a)(2). The Plaintiffs also requested in their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment that the trial court find the Defendant Allen Investments owed common law duties to exercise reasonable care in the maintenance of the subject real estate for the protection of the Plaintiffs.

On September 5, 2018, Defendants Allen Investments and Howard L. Allen filed a Resistance to the Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and on September 21, 2018, Defendants Allen Investments and Howard L. Allen filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on all claims made by the Plaintiffs against them on the grounds that Allen Investments and Howard L. Allen owed no duty to the Plaintiffs.

On May 10, 2019, the district court entered a Ruling denying the Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and granting the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Defendants Allen Investments and Howard L. Allen. The Supreme Court of Iowa denied the Plaintiff's Application for Interlocutory Appeal on July 24, 2019. The Plaintiff subsequently dismissed her claims against Defendants Javier Escobar Flores and Benito Rodrigues dela Rosa without

prejudice. This dismissal made the summary judgment ruling in favor of Allen Investments and Howard L. Allen final as to the entire case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 10, 2009, Allen Investments sold real estate legally described as:

"Lot No. 4 in Meyer's and Appel Subdivision in Waterloo, Iowa.",

and locally known as 323 Archer Avenue, Waterloo, Iowa, to Javier Escobar Flores and Benito Rodrigues dela Rosa on a "Real Estate Contract-Installments." (App. p. 25-29). Javier Escobar Flores and Benito Rodrigues dela Rosa took possession of the subject real estate, pursuant to the contract in November of 2009. Allen Investments did not have possession or control of the subject property, a single-family home, from the time Javier Escobar Flores and Benito Rodrigues dela Rosa took possession of the property following the execution of the Real Estate Contract-Installments on November 10, 2009 through November 7, 2014. (App. p.173-177).

Under the terms of the Real Estate Contract – Installments, the entire contract balance was to be paid by December 1, 2019. The contract also contained an insurance provision which required the buyers to keep in force casualty insurance "in an amount not less than the full insurable value of...improvements and personal property or not less than the unpaid purchase price...whichever amount is smaller". (App. p. 25-29) The insurance provisions of the Real Estate Contract – Installments

also provided that "In the event of any such casualty loss, the insurance proceeds may be used under the supervision of the sellers to replace or repair the loss if the proceeds be adequate; if not, then some other reasonable application of such fund shall be made; but in any event such proceeds shall stand as security for the payment of the obligations herein." (App. p. 25-29)

On May 30, 2014, Plaintiff Kristina Lewis and her boyfriend, Stevie Thomas, entered a written lease for the rental of 323 Archer Avenue, Waterloo, Iowa with Benito Rodrigues dela Rosa. Neither Allen Investment nor Howard L. Allen was ever a party to this lease. (App. p.178-179)

On November 7, 2014, a fire started in the kitchen of 323 Archer Avenue, Waterloo, Iowa, as a result of unattended cooking. Plaintiff Kristina Lewis was injured in this fire after she re-entered the house to look for two of her children who resided at the property with Ms. Lewis and her boyfriend, Stevie Thomas.

At the time of the November 7, 2014 fire, the Real Estate Contract-Installments was unfulfilled. At the time of the November 7, 2014 fire, the contract buyers were current on their obligations under the Real Estate Contract–Installments and the seller, Allen Investments, had not initiated any forfeiture or foreclosure proceedings. (App. p.173-177)

ERROR PRESERVATION

Defendants/Appellees Allen Investments and Howard L. Allen agree with the Plaintiff/Appellant's statements on Error Preservation.

SCOPE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Defendants/Appellees Allen Investments and Howard L. Allen agree with the Plaintiff/Appellant's statements on the Scope and Standard of Review as set forth in Plaintiff's Brief.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO DEFENDANTS ALLEN INVESTMENTS AND HOWARD L. ALLEN AS THESE DEFENDANTS OWED NO DUTY TO THE PLAINTIFF.

The undisputed facts in the case at bar establish that Defendant Howard L. Allen never held an ownership interest in the property located at 323 Archer Avenue, Waterloo, Iowa. The Plaintiff, in her appeal, does not assert that the district court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Howard L. Allen, individually.

The Plaintiff concedes that her claims against Defendant Allen Investments are based in negligence. "An actionable claim of negligence requires the existence of a duty to conform to a standard of conduct to protect others, a failure to conform to that standard, proximate cause and damages." *Thompson v. Kaczinski,* 774

N.W.2d 829, 834 (Iowa 2009). "Whether a duty arises out of a given relationship is a matter of law for the Court's determination." *Id*.

The particulars of negligence asserted against Defendant Allen Investments by the Plaintiff are:

- Failure to install adequate smoke/fire detectors and warning devices in
 323 Archer Avenue, Waterloo, Iowa;
- 2. Failure to maintain adequate smoke/fire detectors and warning devices in an operating manner at 323 Archer Avenue, Waterloo, Iowa;
- 3. Failure to provide or install working and adequate fire extinguishment devices at 323 Archer Avenue, Waterloo, Iowa;
- 4. Failure to warn Plaintiff of the dangerous and unsafe conditions existing at 323 Archer Avenue, Waterloo, Iowa;
- 5. Failure to provide fit premises pursuant to Iowa Code Chapter 562A, including but not limited to, failure to maintain and install adequate smoke/fire detectors and warning devices in an operating manner; and
- 6. Failure to provide fit premises pursuant to Iowa Code Chapter 562A, including the failure to provide or install working and adequate fire extinguishment devices at 323 Archer Avenue, Waterloo, Iowa.

 (Petition App. 30-38)

In *Thompson v. Kaczinski*, the Supreme Court of Iowa adopted the Restatement (Third) of Torts' duty analysis. Under the Restatement (Third) of Torts duty analysis, "[a]n actor ordinarily has a duty to exercise reasonable care when the actor's conduct creates a risk of physical harm." *Thompson* at 834 quoting Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liab. for Physical Harm, Section 7(a), at 90 (Proposed Final Draft No. 1, 2005). While an actor ordinarily has a duty of care under the Restatement (Third) of Torts, "in exceptional cases, the general duty to exercise reasonable care can be displaced or modified. An exceptional case is one in which 'an articulated countervailing principle or policy warrants denying or limiting liability in a particular class of cases." *Thompson* at 834 quoting Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liab. for Physical Harm Section 7(b), at 90.

In the case at bar, Defendant Allen Investments sold the subject single-family dwelling unit on contract to Defendants Javier Escobar Flores and Benito Rodrigues dela Rosa nearly five (5) years before the November 7, 2014 fire giving rise to this lawsuit. The Plaintiff's lease for the property began on June 1, 2014, nearly four and one-half (4 ½) years after the execution of the Real Estate Contract between Allen Investments and Defendants Flores and dela Rosa. (App. p.178-170) The facts of the case at bar establish that this matter falls within the "exceptional" situations where the general duty to exercise reasonable care is displaced.

In its ruling granting Allen Investments' Motion for Summary Judgment, the district court quoted *Junkin v. McClain*, 265 N.W. 362 (1936) extensively. In

Junkin, the Supreme Court of Iowa stated:

It has been repeatedly held by this court that when a landowner enters into a contract of sale whereby the purchaser agrees to buy, and the owner to sell, and whereby the vendor retains the legal title until the purchase money or some part thereof be paid, the ownership of the real estate, as such, passes to the purchaser, and that from such time forth the vendor holds the legal title as security for a debt and as trustee for the purchaser. The interest acquired by the vendee is "land," and the right and interest conferred by the contract upon the vendor is "personal property."...A judgment against the vendee would become a lien on the land, inferior, of course, to the rights of the vendor. A judgment against the vendor would not become a lien upon the land, nor could an execution thereunder be made by levy and sale of the land.

Thus, there can be no doubt that in the case at bar, from and after the date of the real estate contract,..., the purchaser,..., held equitable title to the premises, and the vendor,..., retained the legal title to the real estate as security for the payment of the remainder of the purchase price...The ownership of the real estate, as such, was in the purchaser and not in the vendor. The vendor held the legal title simply as security for the remaining debt, the balance of the purchase price, and as trustee for the purchaser or his assigns or successors. The interest or right acquired by the vendee or purchaser was "land," and the interest or right retained or conferred by the contract upon the vendor was "personal property." *Junkin at 365*.

In *Benson v. 13 Associates*, *LLC*, 909 N.W.2nd 443 (Iowa App. 2017), an unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals of Iowa, the court noted "[t]he

guiding maxim repeated in our case law is 'liability' is 'premised' on control."

Benson v. 13 Associates, LLC, 909 N.W.2d 443 (Iowa App. 2017) (citing

McCormick v. Nikkel & Associates, Inc., 819 N.W.2d 368, 372 (Iowa 2012) citing

Van Essen v. McCormick Enterprises Co., 599 N.W.2d 716, 720 n.3 (Iowa 1999),

quoting Allison by Fox v. Page, 545 N.W.2d 281, 283 (Iowa 1996).

In *Stalter by Stalter v. Iowa Resources, Inc.*, 468 N.W.2d 796, 798 (Iowa 1991), the Supreme Court of Iowa stated:

The rationale underlying the general rule that one who has transferred ownership and control is no longer held liable is that the former owner no longer has control and thus may not enter the property to cure any deficiency, and, he/she cannot control the entry of persons onto the property or provide safeguards for them. *Id* at 798.

There is no evidence in the record indicating that Defendant Allen Investments had access to the property or maintained any control or possession of the premises after the property was sold on contract nearly five (5) years before the fire of November 7, 2014.

In *Hollingsworth v. Schminkey*, 553 N.W.2d 591, 599 (Iowa 1996), the Plaintiff claimed that Steven and Susan Woodford were negligent in failing to keep and maintain a driveway in a safe condition. The Woodford's had sold the property in question on contract to Schminkey over two (2) years before the accident giving rise to the Hollingsworth lawsuit and therefore did not occupy or control the premises. In affirming the trial court's grant of Woodford's Motion for

Summary Judgment, the Supreme Court of Iowa stated that, "Woodford's Motion for Summary Judgment was supported with Affidavits that established they had sold the property on contract to Schminkey in 1991 and that at the time of the accident in February, 1993, Woodfords did not occupy or control the property. The Woodfords were not in possession of the land and they had no duty to keep or maintain the driveway in a good and safe condition. Under these circumstances, the Woodfords are entitled to summary judgment." *Hollingsworth* at 599. In *Hollingworth*, the trial court concluded that Schminkey and not the Woodfords had a duty to maintain the property as Schminkey was buying the property on contract and had sole control of the house and property and therefore were responsible for maintaining it. *Hollingsworth* at 599.

Where, as in the case at bar, a party sells real property by an installment contract, the possession of the real property belongs to the buyer. *In Re Estate of Miller*, 119 N.W. 977, 978 (1909). In relinquishing possession of the real property, the seller, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, releases control of the property.

The evidence in this case clearly establishes that Defendant Allen Investments did not have possession or control of the property from November 10, 2009 through the date of the fire, November 7, 2014. Additionally, there is no evidence in the case at bar that establishes that Defendant Allen Investments was a

party to the lease under which Plaintiff Kristina Lewis occupied the premises.

Therefore, Defendant Allen Investments owed no duty to Plaintiff Kristina Lewis as Allen Investments had no control or authority to enter the property and the grant of summary judgment in favor of Allen Investments was appropriate.

The Plaintiff argues that Allen Investments owed a duty to the Plaintiff under the Uniform Residential Landlord Tenant Act, Iowa Code Chapter 562A. The Plaintiff contends that because Iowa Code §562A.6(5) defines the term "landlord" as the "owner...of the dwelling unit" and the term "owner" is defined as one in whom "all or part of legal title to property" is vested, Allen Investments owed a duty to maintain a fit and habitable premises pursuant to Iowa Code § 562A.15(1)(a)(1) - (2). On its face, the statute seems to indicate that Allen Investments, because of the legal title it retained to 323 Archer Avenue, Waterloo, Iowa, as the contract seller, is a "landlord" having all duties of a landlord under Chapter 562A; however, it seems unlikely that the legislature used the term "legal title" in Chapter 562A in the same sense as "legal title" in the context of a contract sale. Chapter 562A does not define the term "legal title", and there is no case law interpreting Iowa Code §562A.6(6)(a).

The term "title" has been used in some context to refer generally to the lawful cause or ground for possessing property. *See Johnson v. Board of Supervisors of Jefferson County*, 24 N.W.2d 449, 452 (Iowa 1946). The Iowa

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